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Foreword

Every walk around Athens is a journey through history, and every area 
surrounding the city bears its own distinctive marks acquired through time. 
The book you are holding in your hands is meant to serve as a guide on this 
journey, from antiquity to the present, revealing not only the topographical 
features and the functions of the site, but also the habits, customs, and 
needs of the societies that used it over time. 

So while this publication focuses on a specific area of land, it offers a 
window into the history of the entire city and its inhabitants. Our city, 
like a living organism, is in constant motion, changing and evolving. Today, 
this area hosts the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC), 
which includes the new facilities of the National Library of Greece (NLG) 
and the Greek National Opera (GNO), as well as Stavros Niarchos Park, the 
largest public Mediterranean garden in the world. At the Stavros Niarchos 
Foundation (SNF), we are deeply grateful and proud to have been able 
to help open a new chapter for the country by envisioning, building, and 
delivering the SNFCC to the public at large. It is our hope that the SNFCC 
will continue to be an integral part of everyday life for Athenians for many 
years to come, as well as a special destination that welcomes all visitors—a 
modern Agora in constant dialogue with Greek society and the international 
community. 

We congratulate MONUMENTA coordinator Irini Gratsia, with whom we 
have collaborated for years, on her commitment to highlighting the socio-
geographical history of this interesting piece of our storied city. 

Retracing the history of a particular place, the process indicated in the 
title of this book, inevitably reveals that place’s potential for evolution, 
rebirth, and reinvention, over and over again. The long perspective is a great 
reminder that this potential is always present, even in moments when it’s 
less apparent.

Andreas Dracopoulos
Co-President, Stavros Niarchos Foundation (SNF)
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Foreword

I first visited the site where the SNFCC now stands in 2013. It was impossible 
to imagine, then, that a few years later it would be teeming with life, with 
women and men of all ages, coming here to take a walk, to exercise, to 
listen to music, and whatever else their hearts desire. And please forgive 
me for adding that my own sentimental preference is for those who, bent 
over a book in the reading rooms of the National Library, are seeking to 
know themselves and the world. What’s even harder, however, is for today’s 
visitors to imagine the life (and death) of the people who were here, in 
this space, before them. Thanks to the permanent exhibition hosted on 
the ground floor of the NLG and to this book, they can now get some idea. 
Present-day Athens, our beautiful-ugly city, the European capital with 
the longest history, generously provides us with the emotional reward of 
discovering traces of the lives of the people who lived in these same places, 
hundreds or thousands of years ago; as long as we take a moment to stand 
still, instead of constantly running around like crazy. 

The most important trace of a past life is the cemetery that existed here, 
for a whole four hundred years, from the 8th to the 4th century B.C., with 
thousands of graves containing men, women, children, and horses. It is 
distinguished by the unique and astounding discovery of burials of men 
who had suffered a violent death, and among them those executed by 
“apotympanismos” (the method of capital punishment equivalent to the 
Roman crucifixion in ancient Athens). Once the excavation of the necropolis 
is completed and the museum is built, the SNFCC will gain, in addition to 
yet another reason – of international significance – to attract visitors, a 
great school, reminding us that everything in this world exists alongside 
everything else: beauty and horror, life and death. 

The archaeological discovery of the necropolis was made in the early 20th 
century, when Syngrou Avenue, which now leads to the SNFCC, was still a 
provincial dirt road lined with rows of verdant Pepper trees; it was laid with 
asphalt in 1925-26 and became the symbol of a new lifestyle, a dynamic new 
era, as Yiorgos Theotokas wrote in Free Spirit (1929), also reflected in George 
Seferis’ poem “Syngrou Avenue, 1930.”

The radical regeneration of the area came around the same time, with the 
construction of the racetrack. Many celebrated and mourned (their lost 
fortunes) in its stands. Those of my generation have yet another, grim reason 
to remember it: it was here that hundreds of people, men and women alike, 
were transported and tortured on April 21, 1967, with the poet Yiannis Ritsos 
among them; it was here that Panagiotis Elis was murdered, on April 25, by 
an officer of the Junta. There ought to have been something, in the space 
that succeeded the Hippodrome, commemorating his name. 

Several people labored to create the permanent exhibition and this book. 
I don’t know them all. I mostly worked with Irini Gratsia and enjoyed the 
benefit of her passion and her knowledge first hand. Allow me express my 
gratitude to her, for this collective achievement. 

Stavros Zoumboulakis 
President of the Supervisory Council,  
National Library of Greece 

The Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) was created 
by the Stavros Niarchos Foundation (SNF) for the purpose of attracting 
the residents and visitors of Athens, demonstrating in its every aspect 
the benefits of the institution of community and of urban public spaces 
for the citizens. Barely 4.5 km from the center of town, the location and 
architectural design of the SNFCC express the name of the area that 
surrounds it, Kallithea (“good view”), and restore its connection to the sea. 

The Stavros Niarchos Park, one of the largest green spaces in Athens, 
spanning 210,000 square meters, or else the largest Mediterranean garden 
in the world, has been instrumental in improving the quality of life for 
the local community, since its construction doubled the green space per 
capita for the area’s residents. At the same time, it reconnects neighboring 
districts, both through its design, which is an extension of their urban 
network, and its operation and open events.

From the very start of its operation, the SNFCC has established itself as a 
landmark of contemporary Greece and the new metropolitan hub for events 
of international reach, thus contributing to the country’s promotion across 
the globe. Already, in the first few years of its activity, millions of people 
of different ages, of all educational and economic backgrounds, with or 
without disabilities, permanent residents and visitors to the city alike, feel 
like they belong at the SNFCC, thus redefining the concept of public space 
and the citizens’ relationship to it. 

The place where we are at, like the communities that surround us, are 
not just our everyday correspondents, but also a source of inspiration for 
our mission. The significance of research, recording and documenting the 
history that leads us to our present is an undertaking of critical importance. 
This publication comes along to cast light upon and to showcase the long 
and rich history of the area, as well as the microhistory of its people, 
through their own accounts, and stands as an invaluable guide for all of us. 

Knowing and understanding the past gives us the tools and the inspiration 
to turn our gaze upon the future, a future where the SNFCC will continue 
to respond to the ways our world is changing, encouraging the public to 
expand its horizons daily, on both an individual and collective level. 

                                                       
Elly Andriopoulou 
President and Managing Director,  
Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC)
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The construction of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center 
(SNFCC) provided the Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands with 
the opportunity to carry our large-scale archaeological excavations (2012-
2022), bringing to light a part of the coastal cemetery extending over 11,000 
square meters of Attic land. The excavation yielded 1,961 burials dated to 
the entire chronological range that the cemetery was in use; the richest and 
most interesting historical horizon, however, is that of the 7th and 6th  
century B.C. 
  
These burials consist, in their majority, of the simple laying down of the 
bodies of dead adults in trenches in a sandy beach, and entombments of 
infants and small children within clay urns (pot burial). Also represented, 
in smaller percentages, are all other grave types known from ancient 
cemeteries (cist graves, shrines, secondary cremations in urns), as well as 
particularly elaborate funeral pyres for the cremation of the dead. 

While the Faliron cemetery presents an image made familiar by publications 
of ancient coastal cemeteries, it does bear certain singularities. The first 
pertains to the large number (17) of well-kept graves of horses – male, for 
the most part – arranged in a position of honor for pack horses. The second, 
to the burial of a child in a wooden coffin that was originally made and used 
as a lake boat. The third singularity pertains to the large percentage of 
graves of people who were tortured before they were put to death. That 
atrocious image is complemented by the mass burials of people who were 
dragged to the site in shackles and executed on the spot, or buried there 
after their mass execution. 

Cemeteries, in antiquity as well as in the present day, are the dark waters 
of the Styx, reflecting on their surface aspects, both obvious and unseen, 
of the society that creates and manages them. The cemetery at the Faliron 
Delta is no exception. The almost 2,000 graves that have been discovered 
tell the story of the city’s people, their conditions of living, the poverty or 
the wealth of the period in which they lived. Each narrative adds a tile to 
the mosaic of their society, its evolution through four especially influential 
centuries, which created a salient moment in the history of mankind: that 
of democratic Athens. Its light and dark aspects alike stand as irrefutable 
testimony of the identity of the city of Athens in the 5th century B.C. 

Dr. Stella Chrysoulaki
Heraklion Archaeological Museum’s General Director  
Director of the excavations at the Necropolis 

 

Foreword

Recording, studying and understanding history are building blocks for 
the evolution of mankind and the social collective. When it comes to art, 
knowledge of the past is a prerequisite for artistic creation. At the same 
time, in urban culture, chronicling a landmark and the human presence 
therein is a stepping stone for the present and a cornerstone for the future. 

The history of the site where the new home of the Greek National Opera 
and the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center as a whole were 
created begins in antiquity and stretches all the way to the present day. 

Complementary to the important permanent exhibition entitled “Following 
the thread of life and human activity,” which reveals invaluable information 
about the SNFCC site through archaeological remains/discoveries, data, 
archives and oral accounts, this book stands as an historical document of 
great significance. Through its photographic material, readers will travel to 
different historical periods, and discover the transformations undergone by 
the area, as well as the human presence and activity connected to it. 

This outstanding publication, as well as the permanent exhibition at the 
National Library of Greece, is owed to a large part to MONUMENTA, which 
is dedicated to the preservation of historical buildings, archives and oral 
accounts; I cannot stress their remarkable work enough. 

                                                       
Giorgos Koumendakis 
Artistic Director,  
Greek National Opera
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The site hosting the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
is part of the Faliron Delta and has a long and interesting history. It begins in 
ancient times and continues through the present day. Between the 8th and 
4th centuries B.C. it was used as a cemetery; it hosted the Hippodrome in 
the 20th century and has been occupied by the SNFCC since 2016, a complex 
that includes the facilities of the National Library of Greece (NLG), the 
Greek National Opera (GNO) and Stavros Niarchos Park. 

Tracing the transformation of a location and human activity over time is 
an extremely charming process, and documenting it is an ongoing aim. 
Archaeological research, archives and oral testimonies are the means of 
documentation, which, in the case of the SNFCC site and of the wider area 
of the Faliron Delta including the regions of Palaio Faliro and Kallithea, 
were plentiful and served as the basis for the creation of the permanent 
exhibition, entitled “Following the thread of life and human activity,” 
presented on the ground level of the National Library of Greece. 

Created to complement the exhibition but also as a stand-alone source 
of information, this book presents the history of the site and the wider 
area through extensive archival and photographic material, as well as oral 
testimonies. The reader will be taken on a journey to the different forms of 
the site through the ages and see how the human factor gave it its shape, 
which changed depending on its use over each period. 

Both the exhibition and publication of this book come under the program 
entitled “Recording, conservation and digitization of the Ergoliptiki S.A. 
Archive,” which was implemented by MONUMENTA in collaboration with 
the NLG and with an exclusive grant from the Stavros Niarchos Foundation 
(SNF). To MONUMENTA, which works for the preservation of historical 
buildings, archives and oral accounts, the realization of these two projects 
contributes to the achievement of its objectives.  

This publication was made possible by a grant from SNF, and the personal 
interest taken by its Co-President, Andreas Dracopoulos, to whom we 
owe our heartfelt thanks. Thanks also to the president of the Supervisory 
Council of the NLG, Stavros Zoumboulakis, who also came up with 
the exhibition title, and Evi Stefani, head of the NLG’s Administrative 
Office, as well as to Vassilis Kaskarelis, Senior Advisor to the SNF Board 
of Directors; Alexia Vasilikou, Communications Officer at SNF; Vasiliki 
Derpanopoulou, Program Officer at SNF; Vasilis Louras, head of marketing 
and communications at the GNO; and Athena Balopoulou, marketing & 
communications director at SNFCC. For the support of the Ephorate of 
Antiquities of Piraeus and Islands and for providing photographic and 
graphic materials, special thanks to Dr. Stella Chrysoulaki, Heraklion 
Archaeological Museum’s general director and director of the Excavations 
at the Necropolis, as well as to archaeologist Giannis Pappas. We would  
also like to thank Dr. Anastasia Leriou, editor at GK Media Publishing,  
for the old photographs. The contribution of the exhibition’s creative team, 
museologist Marlen Mouliou, museographer Spyros Nasainas, and  
architect/graphic designer Akrivi Anagnostaki, was also priceless. 
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We would be greatly remiss if we failed to pay tribute to two people who 
made substantial contributions to this endeavor and who were sadly taken 
from us prematurely: the director of the NLG, Filippos Tsiboglou, who 
embraced the idea for the exhibition and did all he could, on his part, to 
turn it into reality, and collector Giannis Lambrou, who preserved the 
Ergoliptiki Archive and came up with the idea for an exhibition on the 
history of the SNFCC site; their contribution to the exhibition and the book 
your hold in your hands was invaluable. 

Irini Gratsia – Giorgos Ninos



This book follows the thread of human life and activity at the 
site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
and the area surrounding it, which includes the neighborhoods 
of Tzitzifies, Kallithea and Palaio Faliro. Following a journey 
driven by bibliographical sources, oral testimonies and, most 
importantly, invaluable archival material, this publication now 
stands as an illustrated history of the site of the SNFCC and the 
transformations it has undergone over the centuries. 

A large part of the reference material, pertaining to the 20th 
century, derives from the archive of the interwar company 
Ergoliptiki S.A., which constructed the Hippodrome horse racing 
track, and from the artefacts collected by the late Giannis 
Lambrou on horse racing and the areas surrounding the SNFCC. 
This rare and precious archival material is enriched by accounts 
and mementoes from people – mostly jockeys, trainers and 
grooms – who worked at the racetrack in the post-war period. 
Their memories fleshed out the shape of an entire era. 

Let this book be your guide as you visit the SNFCC and the 
“Following the thread of life and human activity” exhibition;  
let it take you on a journey to the past, and discover the various 
lives of the site over time. And, most exciting of all, as you look 
at the buildings of the National Library of Greece and the Greek 
National Opera and stroll around the Stavros Niarchos Park – 
the site’s today – let it sweep you up in the feeling that you too 
are a part of its history! 

Introduction
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Ι.

Antiquity
(Prehistory - 4th century B.C.)
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The history of the Faliron Delta, the eastern side of Faliron Bay, 
begins from ancient times, when it was a large sandy beach full of 
sand dunes. Given the inappropriateness of the soil, which made 
habitation and cultivation impracticable, the site became the 
largest cemetery of Athens, in use from the 8th to the 4th century 
B.C. and spreading over an area of 3,000 square meters. 

I. Antiquity
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC)
Transformation 1
 

Faliron Bay served as the main port of Athens from prehistoric 
times to the 5th century B.C. and continued to be in use into the 
modern era. The “Faliriki Odos” (Faliron Way) connected the city 
to the port. 
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[-->] Plan view of the  
Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center,  
with markings indicating the excavated graves.  
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and Sports,  
Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands, 
editor: S. Chrysoulaki

[↑] Topographic map of Falirikos Ormos  
and the wider area. Faliriki Odos is marked.

Necropolis of
Faliron
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[↑] Figurine of horse with rider.  
It had been placed in the tomb of a young child.
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and Sports,  
Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

[↑] Burial vases from the Necropolis of Faliron. 
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and Sports,  
Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands, 
editor: S. Chrysoulaki

I. Antiquity
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC)
Transformation 1
 

Excavations to this day, albeit limited to a small part of the 
cemetery, have revealed almost two thousand graves, including 
several entombments of adults, newborns and children, as well 
as burials of people subjected to a violent death. The typology 
of the burials includes pit graves, cist graves, and burials in clay 
vessels, small shrines and funeral pyres. 
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[↑] Burial site of equine animal  
at the Necropolis of Faliron. 
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and Sports,  
Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

A number of very well-kept tombs of horses were discovered 
at the necropolis. According to archaeologists, these either 
belonged to equestrians or had been offered as sacrifices to the 
gods of the Underworld. 

[↑] Mass grave of four men with their arms  
bound behind their backs.
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and Sports,  
Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

I. Antiquity
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC)
Transformation 1
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[-->] The Long Walls,  
connecting Athens to the ports  
of Piraeus and Faliron. 
Travlos, I. 1993.  
Πολεοδομική εξέλιξις των Αθηνών 
[Urban planning development  
of Athens], p.49.

The Faliron Wall, the southern section of the 
Long Walls, was built in the mid-5th century  
(459-456 B.C.) to protect the plain extending 
from Athens to the Faliron coast from the east.   

I. Antiquity
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ΙΙ.

Byzantine & Ottoman period
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The port of Faliron continued to be in use over the Byzantine 
and Ottoman periods, on account of being the closest marine 
gateway to Athens, while the surrounding area appears to have 
been very sparsely populated. 

The only remnant of the post-Byzantine period, recorded since 
the 17th century, is the church of St. George at the site known  
as “Three Towers.” 

That was also the location where, in April 1827, during  
the Battle of Faliron, the Greeks suffered a grave defeat by  
the Turkish forces. 

ΙΙ. Byzantine & Ottoman period
 
 

The church of St. George.
[↑] Photographer: S. Karavatos
[←] Photographer: J. Vanderpool
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ΙΙΙ.

1830 - late 19th century
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In the late 19th century, the Faliron area was mostly used as 
pasture lands, while the marshlands in Tzitzifies were a popular 
site for hunting wild birds. 

ΙΙΙ. 1830–late 19th century
 

[→] The marshland area  
of the Faliron Delta.  
Kardamatis, I. P. 1927.  
Αι Αθήναι Ελονοσόπληκτοι  
[Malaria-stricken Athens], p.153.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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The coast of Faliron became an excursion destination for Athenians 
due to its natural beauty and sea bathing. The coastal area at  
the Faliron Delta was known as Ksirotagaros, so named after  
the Ksirotagaros family that owned large parts of the land.  
The Ksirotagaros brothers, Spyros and Christos, ran an inn on  
the coast, close to the church of St. George. 

1887 marks the inauguration of the tramline – initially a steam 
locomotive – connecting the city of Athens to Faliron, which 
became known as “Kolosourtis.” The tram played a major role  
in the development of the area.  

ΙΙΙ. 1830–late 19th century
 

[↑] The steam tram on a tinted postcard. 
Leriou, An. 2017. Παλαιό Φάληρο  
[Palaio Faliro], p.51.

[↑] The steam locomotive at a stop in Neo Faliro. 
Biris, K. 1996. Αι Αθήναι από του 19ου εις τον 20ον αιώνα  
[Athens from the 19th to the 20th century], p.252.
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ΙΙΙ. 1830–late 19th century
 

[↑] The Syngrou Mansion, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

In the late 19th century, the beach of Faliron became a summer 
resort, and the first holiday mansions were erected. Indicatively, 
these include the Despozitos Mansion or Villa Kouloura, and 
the Mansions of Syngos, Fix, Serdaris, Gazis, Apostolopoulos, 
Hatziliakos, Theodoridis and Chalkokondylis. The first residences 
in Kallithea, such as the homes of Laskaris Laskaridis and 
Georgios Filaretos, were built over the same period. 

The Kouloura or Despozitos Mansion, named after its original 
owner, Spyridon Despozitos, was built in the late 19th century.  
It is made of ashlar masonry with neogothic architectural features 
(pointed arches, crenellated walls, etc.). Its façade is flanked by 
two two-storey octagonal towers in symmetrical configuration, 
while the entrance to the elevated ground floor is accessible via  
a double staircase with symmetrical flights. 

[-->] The Kouloura Mansion, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos
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[↑] Mansion on the corner of  
Aiolou and Alkyonis streets, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[←] House on Naiadon Street, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[-->] The Laskaridis residence,  
on the corner of Laskaridi and 
Filaretou streets, 2023.
Photographer: J. Vanderpool

ΙΙΙ. 1830–late 19th century
 

The two-storey Laskaridis residence was built by the German 
architect Ernst Ziller and is representative of the neoclassical 
order. This house, which now houses the Municipal Gallery of 
Kallithea, was where the painter Sofia Laskaridi grew up and  
spent many years of her life. 
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ΙV.

1900 - 1922
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In 1900, the zoology professor Nikolaos Germanos constructed 
the first Zoo in Greece, in a former marshland area of 50,000 
square meters, which was radically transformed by extensive 
landfilling, tree planting and irrigation works. 

[-->] Photograph of the facilities 
of the Zoo, published in  
“I Eikonografimeni” newspaper  
in October 1906. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

ΙV. 1900-1922
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ΙV. 1900-1922

[↑] Photograph from the Zoo, 
published in the  
contemporary Press. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[←] Photograph of the aquatic 
bird pool at the Zoo, published 
in “I Eikonografimeni” newspaper 
in October 1906. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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ΙV. 1900-1922

[↑] Postcard of the Zoo, 1904.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Feature on the Zoo in the 
contemporary Press. The top 
photograph depicts a general view 
of the facilities, and the bottom 
one the monkey cage.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection



The official opening of Syngrou Avenue took place in 1904.  
The plans for the construction of the new road were designed  
by the military engineer Ioannis Genisarlis in the late 19th century, 
under the premiership of Charilaos Trikoupis.

ΙV. 1900-1922

Syngrou Avenue in  
the early 20th century. 
Leriou, An. 2017.  
Palaio Faliro, p.77.
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The development of Palaio Faliro into a leisure resort was 
accompanied by the construction of several mansions, as well as 
hotels (Kymata, Niki, Apolloneion, Avra, Fryni) and beer taverns 
(Luna Park-Platon, Bar, Floisvos, Trocadero, Poisson d’ Or, 
Pavsilypon-Palmyra-Babis, Batis). 

ΙV. 1900-1922

[-->] The Eftaxias Mansion  
on the corner of Amfitritis and 
Ivis Athanasiadou streets, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos
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ΙV. 1900-1922

[↖] Mansion on Afroditis Street, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[←] Mansion on the corner of Poseidonos  
and Zaimi streets, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[↗] Mansion on Ivis Athanasiadou street, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[-->] Mansion on the corner of  
Proteos and Iridos streets, 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos
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ΙV. 1900-1922

[↑] The “Floisvos” nightclub in the 1920s. 
Leriou, An. 2017.  
Palaio Faliro, p.60.

[←] “Floisvos,” 2023.
Photographer: S. Karavatos

[-->] The hotel “Fryni,” today a bank store  
on Poseidonos avenue, 2023. 
Photographer: S. Karavatos
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ΙV. 1900-1922

[←][↑] The Skassis Mansion on  
Ivis Athanasiadou Street, 2023. 
Photographer: S. Karavatos

The Skassis Villa was built in the early 20th century by Nikolaos 
Komninos, and subsequently purchased by the Skassis brothers. 
In time, the building passed into the ownership of Andreas 
Embirikos, and was requisitioned by the German forces during 
the Occupation.
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ΙV. 1900-1922

The “Construction Works Company” was founded in 1909,  
with its headquarters in Kallithea. It was contracted to build the 
two storey detached stone houses of the Charokopos area, which 
are attributed to the architect Ernst Ziller. 

[←][↑] Houses on  
Riga Feraiou Street, 2023.
Photographer: J. Vanderpool
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The area north of the Zoo was used for the first time in 1910 as 
an airstrip and gradually, until 1924, became home to the Naval 
Aviation Service (1914), the Army Aviation Service (1915) and the 
petty officers’ Aviation Academy (1924). The first Hellenic Air 
Force Aircraft Depot (KEA) was built in 1920, extending over 
the site previously occupied by the Zoo. These facilities were 
abandoned between 1979-1981, when the Depot relocated  
to Elliniko. 

In 1917, the Spilios Agapitos technical company, predecessor of 
Moschos Diamantopoulos’ “Ergoliptiki”, accepted to undertake 
the construction of the framework for an aircraft hangar out of 
reinforced concrete. 

[←] The third flight made by 
aviator Emmanouil Argyropoulos, 
photograph published in  
“O Kallitechnis” newspaper, 1910s.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[←] Letter from the Spilios 
Agapitos’ company to the 
Directorate of Engineering-
Department of Constructions of 
the Ministry for the Military, 
28-09-1917.
NLG, "Ergoliptiki S.A." Archive

[-->] Feature on the Airport of 
Attica with a map of Faliron Bay, 
“Erga” magazine, 15 April 1930.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

ΙV. 1900-1922
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In 1911, Konstantinos Kourouniotis, head of the Archaeological 
Service, ran a small-scale excavation in the Faliron Delta area, 
known as Voidolivado, which brought to light 68 tombs,  
47 of which belonged to young children. 

[-->] Snapshot from  
Kourouniotis’ excavation. 
Kourouniotis, K. 1911. Ex Attikis. 
A'. Palaion Faliron Excavations, 
Archaiologiki Efimeris, p.247.

[↑] Burial vases from 
Kourouniotis’ excavation.
Kourouniotis, K. 1911. Ex Attikis. 
A'. Palaion Faliron Excavations, 
Archaiologiki Efimeris, p.247.

ΙV. 1900-1922
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In 1915, the archaeologist Stratis Pelekidis launched an excavation, 
and discovered parts of the Faliron necropolis, with 86 tombs and 
a mass grave containing 18 bodies, shackled to planks. These are 
the famous “Apotympanismenoi” [sometimes translated as “The 
Fallen”], a discovery that shook up the Athenian society and was 
met with ambivalent reactions. 

[↑] View of the excavated mass 
grave of the “Apotympanismenoi”, 
Keramopoullos, A. D. 1923.  
O Apotympanismos, Athens, fig.12.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

ΙV. 1900-1922

[-->] Mass grave of men  
condemned to a violent death,  
Keramopoullos, A. D. 1923.  
O Apotympanismos, Athens, fig.7. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection



71

The “apotymanismos” was arguably the most painful variant of 
execution practices in classical-era Athens. The convicts were 
bound to a plank by restraints around their limbs and neck.  
The plank was raised vertically, and death was slow and agonizing, 
not only on account of thirst and starvation, but also of the 
unbearable strain caused to the body by its own weight. 

[←] Representation of  
the "apotympanismos",  
Keramopoullos, A. D. 1923.  
O Apotympanismos, fig.16. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] The cover of  
A.D. Keramopoullos’ book  
"O Apotympanismos,"  
published in 1923.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

ΙV. 1900-1922
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Refugees from Pontus had already settled in the wider region 
since 1919, primarily around Skopeftirio. In 1922 [with the Asia 
Minor Disaster], over 20,000 refugees arrived in Kallithea,  
and settled in various neighborhoods, including Tzitzifies. 

The 1930s saw the construction of two-storey tiled roof housing 
complexes for refugees.

[↑] Refugee dwellings  
in Tzitzifies, 2023.
Photographer:  J. Vanderpool

[↑] Refugee dwellings  
in Tzitzifies, 2022.
Photographer:  I. Gratsia

ΙV. 1900-1922
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V.

Interwar (1923 - 1940)
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[←] Sectional drawing of the 
Hippodrome grandstand, signed 
by the architects Alexandros 
Nikoloudis and Sotirios Magiasis, 
1924. Copy in blueprint.  
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

In the 1920s, the history of the area changes dramatically, for the 
first time after 2,300 years, with the decision to create the first 
organized horse racing track in Greece, on a 300,000 square 
meter site provided by the Greek state.
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[←] The details of the Privileged 
Hellenic Horse Racing Company  
as they appear on Company 
letterhead in the 1920s. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

[-->] Letter from the Privileged 
Hellenic Horse Racing Company  
to the General Company Béton Armé 
Moschos Diamantopoulos & Co,  
20-02-1924.  
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

The Government Gazette of December 8, 1923, issue no.355, 
sanctioned the agreement between the Ministry of Economy 
and Agriculture and the counterparties Spyridonas I. 
Kostopoulos, Ilias S. Katsichtis, Vachan Valgiozoglou and Ioannis 
F. Stefanopoulos, “on granting the right to conduct horse races 
in the region of Attica” for thirty years. The parties named 
were contractually obligated to establish a public company and 
construct a covered grandstand of 15,000 seats, stables for the 
horses, a saddling area, weighbridge, a conference room for the 
judging committee, and all necessary facilities for conducting 
horse races. Also, to create a stud farm and a riding school and 
plant trees in the surrounding space. The agreement also allowed 
for the construction of restaurants, patisseries, dance halls and 
other leisure facilities. 
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In early 1924, the newly founded Privileged Hellenic Horse 
Racing Company commissioned the General Company Betón 
Armé Moschos Diamantopoulos & Co, founded by civil engineer 
Moschos Diamantopoulos, to drain the marshlands (Voidolivado) 
at the Faliron Delta and create the infrastructure for the racing 
track. The oversight of the project was assigned to the engineer 
Dimitrios Arliotis, who specialized in hydraulic works. The civil 
engineer Dionysios Papaleonardos drew up the draft plans for  
the earthworks. 

Moschos Diamantopoulos’ company was one of the most 
important construction firms of the Interwar era. It was founded 
in 1912 as the General Company of Technical Enterprises S. 
Agapitos & Co. and subsequently developed into a general 
partnership under the name General Company Betón Armé 
Moschos Diamantopoulos & Co, which was converted into 
Ergoliptiki S.A. in 1925. 

[←] Agreement between  
the Privileged Hellenic Horse 
Racing Company and the General 
Company Béton Armé Moschos 
Diamantopoulos & Co for  
the draining of the area  
and the construction of  
the horseracing arena, 1924.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2
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In June 1924, the General Company Béton Armé, which 
specialized in reinforced concrete structures, undertook the 
construction of a covered grandstand for the viewers of the 
horse races. The plans for the grandstand and the fencing of  
the racetrack were designed by the acclaimed architect 
Alexandros Nikoloudis, in collaboration with his young colleague, 
Sotirios Magiasis. 

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[-->] Agreement between  
the Privileged Hellenic Horse 
Racing Company and the General 
Company Béton Armé Moschos 
Diamantopoulos & Co for the 
construction of the grandstand  
of the Hippodrome, 1924.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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Alexandros Nikoloudis, of Cretan descent, was born in Leros 
on March 18, 1874. Upon completing his general education in 
Athens, he moved to Paris to study architecture at the École des 
Beaux-Arts. An expressor of French eclecticism with emphasis 
on functionality, Nikoloudis served as professor at the Faculty of 
Architecture of the University of Athens (1918-1923, 1936-1944) 
and elaborated numerous designs for public and private projects. 
Most prominent among his works are the Livieratos Mansion 
(1906-1909), the Attikon cinema (1916), the urban plan for Psychiko 
(1923), the Officers’ Club (1924), the Vatis Brothers Mansion in 
Piraeus (1924), the students’ Club of the University of Athens 
(1926), the Nikoloudis Gallery (1935), etc. 

Sotirios Magiasis was born in 1894 and studied architecture at 
the École des Beaux-Arts in Paris, from where he graduated in 
1922. He took his first professional steps alongside Alexandros 
Nikoloudis, who was his brother-in-law. He was an expressor 
of the transitional architecture of the Interwar period, which 
represented a shift from the academic style towards rationalism. 
Among his most well-known projects are the Agora of Psychiko 
(1924-1925), the Acropole Palace hotel (1926), the Mimnermou 
Street apartment building (1934), etc. 

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[←] Letter by architect  
Alexandros Nikoloudis to civil  
engineer Dionysios Papaleonardos.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

[-->] Letter by architect  
Sotirios Magiasis to civil 
engineer Dionysios Papaleonardos,  
16-12-1924.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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The design of the Hippodrome grandstand derives from the 
eclecticist architectural trend of its day.

The initial plan included the construction of two identical 
grandstands, which, ultimately, became a single one, following 
numerous modifications to its original dimensions and 
morphological features. The works were overseen by Alexandros 
Nikoloudis, with civil engineers Andreas C. Dracopoulos and 
Dionysios Papaleonardos acting as coordinators on behalf of  
the contractor.

[↑] Elevation of the Hippodrome 
grandstand signed by architect 
Sotirios Magiasis, 1924.  
Copy in blueprint.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[-->] Plan drawing of  
the Hippodrome grandstand. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive





The building permit for  
the construction of the 
Hippodrome grandstand,  
numbered 2533 / 30-08-1924. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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[↑] Structural layout of the 
Hippodrome grandstand, 1924.  
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2
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[↑] View of the Hippodrome 
grandstand during construction, 
with signs bearing the names  
of the employer and  
construction company. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[↑][-->] Views of the Hippodrome 
grandstand during construction. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[↑] View of the Hippodrome 
grandstand during construction.  
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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[↑] Views of the Hippodrome 
grandstand after the completion 
of the canopy. 
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[↑] Advertisement for  
the General Company Betón Armé  
in “I Eikonografimeni tis Elladas” 
magazine. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[←] Detail of the load-bearing 
structure of the Hippodrome 
grandstand during construction.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

[-->] Detailed description of  
the construction specifications  
of the grandstand, 1924.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive
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The official opening of the Hippodrome was held on April 20, 
1925, and was an unqualified success. The contemporary Press 
reported it was attended by more than 40,000 viewers. 

[-->] Cover of the monthly  
“I Eikonografimeni tis Elladas” 
magazine, featuring the horse 
races in Faliron, April 1925. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[↑] Interwar period  
photograph depicting crowds  
at the grandstand.
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[←][↑] Covers of Hippodrome  
racing programs, 1927-1938.
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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[↑] Commemorative photograph  
of the horse “Crystal Ball”  
and its rider, 1930.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[↑] Table of jockey fees,  
19 October 1930.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Ticket prices for the 
horseraces, October 1938. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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The communities of Kallithea and Palaio Faliro were established 
in 1925, and upgraded to municipalities in 1934 and 1942, 
respectively. In the 1930s, the main infrastructure works, such as 
constructing gas and irrigation networks, were completed, and 
an effort to purge the Faliron Coast of litter and waste products 
from the factories was launched. 

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

[←] Nautical map of  
Faliron Bay, depicting  
the racecourse facilities  
and the first grandstand.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Aerial photograph, 1937.
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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[←] Article presenting the new 
grandstand in “Athinaika Nea” 
newspaper, 24/6/1934. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2

In 1934, Ergoliptiki S.A. completed the construction of a second, 
smaller grandstand, on the western side of the first. The plans for 
the “second class” grandstand, as it became known, were drawn 
by architect Kostas Kitsikis. The new grandstand was inaugurated 
on Sunday, June 24, 1934, in the presence of prime minister, 
Panagis Tsaldaris. 
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The architect Kostas Kitsikis was born in Athens in 1892 and 
studied architecture at the Technical University of Berlin 
(Technische Hochschule Berlin-Charlottenburg), from 
where he graduated in 1913. At the beginning of his long and 
productive career, he expressed the spirit of Interwar modernist 
architecture, while, later, he adopted the modern style that 
derived from the prevalence of the Modernist Movement. He was 
instrumental in creating the Interwar apartment building style, 
with numerous projects, including the apartment buildings of 
Tambakopoulos (1922-1924), Vazirgiantzikis (1924), Papaleonardos 
(1925), Korkodeilos (1925), Goulandris (1925), Tetenes (1930), and 
Venizelos (1930). He was professor at the National Technical 
University of Athens from 1940. 

[-->] Cross-section of  
the reinforced concrete framework 
of the grandstand designed by 
architect Kostas Kitsikis, 1934.
NLG, “Ergoliptiki S.A.” Archive

V. Interwar (1923-1940)
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 2
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VI.

1940 - 2000
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During the German occupation, the Hippodrome facilities were 
requisitioned, and were severely damaged as a result. In the late 
1940s, the facilities were restored, and the logistical infrastructure 
was modernized. The racecourse resumed its operation in 1951. 

The post-war period was characterized by economic uprise and 
extensive residential development, which dramatically altered the 
image of the area, as well as of Athens at large. Most of the old 
mansions of Faliro were demolished, and several new apartment 
blocks were built in their place. 

VΙ. 1940-2000
 

[-->] Poseidonos Avenue, 1950s.  
The construction of high-rise 
blocks radically changes the  
image of Palaio Faliro. 
Leriou, An. 2017.  
Palaio Faliro, p.175.
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Horse racing flourished after the war and the Hippodrome 
became a popular leisure destination. 

Within the Hippodrome site was the “Athinaia” entertainment 
venue.  One of the acclaimed orchestras that performed there, 
over the 1950s and 1960s, was the one led by the pianist  
Lev Kanakakis. 

“On the days when the races were on, every Wednesday and 
Sunday, the Hippodrome was always full because this was a 
junction, Palaio Faliro, Neo Faliro, Kallithea. 10,000 viewers 
and for the big races, the derbies, there were 20,000 people.” 

VΙ. 1940-2000

Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer, on the 1950s and 1960s.

[↑][-->] Advertisements in the Press 
for racecourses and a singing 
contest at the Hippodrome.
Giannis Lambrou Collection
 
[←] Photograph of the crowd 
welcoming a horse and rider.   
Giannis Lambrou Collection



Magazine feature on the First 
Pan-Military Horse Races.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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“The entrance to the Hippodrome was 50 meters from the sea, 
on the beach. Around it was the river, marshes, no man’s land. 
People only gathered around the entrance of the Hippodrome, 
which was the hang-out of the racetrack crowd, on the terrace 
of “Vrase Ryzi”, Pezoulas’ wine tavern across the road, the 
little tavernas further down. The Evgenidio was a swamp. The 
stables near the racetrack were built under the Junta.”   
Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer.

VΙ. 1940-2000

[←] The jockey Tasos Ioakeimidis 
(right) in the stands of  
the Hippodrome.
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive

[↑] The Charalambous stables,  
on Dimosthenous Street, built 
under the Junta regime.  
Photographer: J. Vanderpool 
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VΙ. 1940-2000

[←] Commemorative photograph  
of the rider Lefteris Siatounis 
with Hermes, 1962. 
Lefteris Siatounis Archive

[-->] Jockeys Tasos Ioakeimidis and 
Iordanis holding their whips. 
They wear jodhpurs and American 
jeans, boots and flatcaps. 1950s. 
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive

“Riders began competing in races upon completing a year of 
training at the Horse Riding School. Trainees received their 
whips after 30 wins.” 
Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer.
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[←][↑] Post-war weekly horse 
racing programs.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Press feature on  
the horse races. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

VΙ. 1940-2000 
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[←] Feature on the horse races  
in the foreign press.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Press feature on  
horse lovers and horses.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

“The main people of the Hippodrome were the trainers, the 
jockeys, the grooms, the riders’ assistants at the changing 
rooms, who got the riding equipment ready, the horse owners, 
the horse feed dealers and the vets. There were girls working 
at the ticket desks and the offices.”
Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer.

VΙ. 1940-2000
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“The horses came to us at age 1,5 years, we would train them, 
and at two years old they began taking part in the races. 
Before the race, the grooms would brush them, check their 
temperature, then they would put the saddle on them so that 
they’d walk around saddled, check out the space, and come to 
be mounted by the rider.  

After the end of the race, we would take commemorative 
photographs, with the owners. Then we had the antidoping 
control, by testing their saliva.” 

[--/^] Horse license card,  
24 October 1969.
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Photograph of jockeys and 
their horses at the arena of  
the Hippodrome.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[←] Press feature  
on the horse races.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer. 
Ilias Siatounis, groom and trainer.

VΙ. 1940-2000
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[↑] Photograph from a horserace. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

VΙ. 1940-2000

[↑] Commemorative photograph of a horse owner  
with the winner of the race. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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[-->] Photograph of an Amazon, 
published in a period magazine. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

VΙ. 1940-2000

[↑] Commemorative photograph  
of a horse owner with  
the winner of the race. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[←] Commemorative photograph  
of a horse owner and his family 
with the winner of the race. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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VΙ. 1940-2000

[←][↑] Commemorative photographs  
of horse owners with rider Tasos Ioakeimidis.
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive

[↑] Seal of the Faliron Racetrack  
Racehorse Riders’ Association. 
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive



Trainee riders leading their 
horses to the sea, 1950s. 
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive

“The beach was twenty meters from the racetrack. We would  
take the horses there and, after they swam a few kilometers, 
we would bring them back. The seawater relieved the horses 
from conditions affecting their legs and swimming was the  
best exercise. Often the horses ran the race straight after 
their swim.”
Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer.
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“In the 50s, the beach at the Delta was sandy. Eucalyptus, 
pines and jujubes [“tzitzifa”] were the trees growing in the 
area. The roads were made of dirt and the houses were few and 
far between. We sometimes exercised the horses on the road 
itself.” 
Tasos Ioakeimidis, jockey.

VΙ. 1940-2000

[←] Rider Lefteris Siatounis  
on Lysikratous street  
in Tzitzifies, 1950s.
Lefteris Siatounis Archive

[-->] Rider Tasos Ioakeimidis  
on a street in Tzitzifies, 1950s. 
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive
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“The clients who placed bets would buy slips from us, which 
were marked with the code number of the horse (for gagnant 
and placé wagers) or pairs of horses (for exacta, forecast and 
composite bets). Although we had about twenty minutes for the 
bets to be placed, most players showed up at our counter at 
the last moment, when the last three minutes of betting time 
for the respective race was announced over the speakers.  
In the event of a successful prediction, the clients would 
return the betting slips and we would pay them  
the corresponding cash value immediately.” 

“Betting began at 10 drachmas in the 1950s and 1960s.  
It was forbidden for us, the riders, to play.”

VΙ. 1940-2000

Panagiotis K. Kefalas, apprentice cashier at the Hippodrome, in 1974.

Lefteris Siatounis, jockey and trainer.

[←] Artwork attributed  
to Bost on the horseraces.  
Giannis Lambrou Collection

[-->] Hippodrome betting slip,  
6 November 1955. 
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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Two of the last jockeys who worked at the racetrack in Kallithea, 
after the war. 

Tasos Ioakeimidis was of Asia Minor descent. He was born in 
Chania, Crete, in 1940. He moved to Tzitzifies in 1949. He started 
his career as a trainee rider in 1955, completed his training at the 
Riding School and, in 1961, after winning 30 races, he received his 
whip, and became a jockey. After twenty years as a jockey,  
he became a groom and also taught at the Riding School. 

Lefteris Siatounis was born in Kallithea in 1944. As he says, he was 
introduced to the Hippodrome by accident in 1951, thanks to his 
older brother, who was a trainee jockey. A groom, Konstantinos 
Giannakopoulos, grabbed him and put him on a horse, and his life 
was linked to the Hippodrome from that moment forward.  
In 1955, he graduated from the Riding School with top marks,  
and began competing in races in 1958. Two years later, in 1960,  
he claimed third place with 45 wins. Once he retired as a rider,  
he became a trainer. 

VΙ. 1940-2000

Lefteris  
Siatounis

Anastasios  
Ioakeimidis

[↑] Jockey  
Tasos Ioakeimidis, 2022.

[↗] Commemorative photograph of  
rider Tasos Ioakeimidis, 1976.
Tasos Ioakeimidis Archive

[↑] Jockey  
Lefteris Siatounis, 2022.

[--/^] Commemorative photograph of 
rider Lefteris Siatounis, 1960’s. 
Lefteris Siatounis Archive
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On the evening of the military coup on April 21st, 1967,  
the Hippodrome was used to hold captured left-wing citizens.  
Over 500 people were taken there, and then sent on to places  
of exile. Among them was the poet Yiannis Ritsos, the lawyer,  
member of Parliament for the United Democratic Left (EDA) and 
author Ilias Iliou, and Panagiotis Elis, who was assassinated by  
a second lieutenant. He was one of the first victims  
of the Junta. 

A major overhaul of the Faliron Bay area was launched in the 
1970s, and included extensive earthworks, raising the level of 
the esplanade, constructing the Floisvos marina, and building 
the Peace & Friendship Stadium. These interventions lead to the 
degradation of a large part of the Faliron coastline, which was 
now entirely cut off from the city’s residential areas. 

Newspapers in 1974 published articles on the government’s 
intention to relocate the administrative center of Athens to the 
Faliron Delta, and the Hippodrome site, in particular. The plan 
was never implemented. The racecourse continued to operate, 
but began to lose its prestige in the 1980s. 

VΙ. 1940-2000

[-->] Article from the newspaper 
ACROPOLIS, Sunday March 17, 1974.   
Giannis Lambrou Collection
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VΙI.

2001 - Τoday
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VΙI. 2001-Today

A regeneration of the wider area of the Hippodrome took place 
over the 2001-2004 period, in view of the 2004 Olympic Games, 
which included the construction of athletic facilities, flood 
control works, flyovers, and the redevelopment of the  
coastal zone. 

The Faliron Hippodrome was abandoned in 2003, after the 
racetrack has been relocated to its new premises at Markopoulo, 
Attica. The site gradually fell into decline and by 2008 all of its 
buildings had been demolished. 

[-->] The Olympic Handball Court 
and Taekwondo arena in Faliron 
and the regeneration of  
the surrounding area.  
Photographer: I. Gratsia
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VΙI. 2001-Today

[↑] The derelict grandstand at the 
racetrack before its demolition.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[↗] The south entrance of  
the derelict grandstand shortly 
before its demolition. 
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[-->] View of the grandstand shortly 
before its demolition. 
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos
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VΙI. 2001-Today

[↑] The Hippodrome grandstand 
during its demolition.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[←] View of the derelict  
grandstand from the southwest 
shortly before its demolition.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos
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A new era dawned for the site in 2006, when the Stavros Niarchos 
Foundation (SNF) announced its intention to create the Stavros 
Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC). The project 
included new headquarters for the National Library of Greece 
(NLG) and the Greek National Opera (GNO), as well as the 210,000 
square meter Stavros Niarchos Park. It was designed by the 
internationally renowned architect Renzo Piano and the Renzo 
Piano Building Workshop (RPBW), in collaboration with Betaplan. 
Construction began in 2012. 

[↑] One of Renzo Piano's  
first scetches for the design  
of the SNFCC.
Design: Renzo Piano Building 
Workshop and Betaplan

[-->] Plan view of the SNFCC.
Design: Renzo Piano Building 
Workshop and Betaplan
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Renzo Piano was born in Genoa in 1937 and studied at the 
Polytechnic University of Milan. In 1971, he began collaborating 
with the British architect Richard Rogers, and went on to create 
the Renzo Piano Building Workshop in 1981, with offices in Paris, 
Genoa and New York. He has received numerous awards and 
distinctions. Among his many works are the Pompidou Center in 
Paris (1973-1977), the Kansai International Airport in Osaka (1991-
1994), the Tjibaou Cultural Center in Nouméa, New Caledonia 
(1991-1998), the National Center for Science and Technology 
(NEMO) in Amsterdam (1997), the Paul Klee Museum  in 
Switzerland (1999-2005), the New York Times Building in New York 
(2000-2007), the California Academy of Sciences in San Francisco 
(2000-2008), the Modern Wing of the Art Institute of Chicago 
(2000-2009), and the Aquila Auditorium (2010-2012). 
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[↗] Architect Renzo Piano  
and SNF Co-President  
Andreas Dracopoulos at the 
construction site of the SNFCC.
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[-->] Southeastern view of the 
building complex of the SNFCC. 
Design: Renzo Piano Building 
Workshop and Betaplan
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While the project was under construction, a temporary Visitors’ 
Center, designed by two architecture students, Agis-Panagiotis 
Mourelatos and Spyridon Giotakis, provided visitors with 
information on the project’s progress and hosted a range  
of cultural and educational events open to everyone. 
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[-->] Children at the temporary 
Visitors Center.
SNFCC, Photographer: X. Taktikou

[↑] The SNFCC’s temporary  
Visitors Center. 
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos
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[←] Aerial photograph of the area 
at the time construction of  
the SNFCC commenced. 
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos 

[↑] Landscaping works during  
the construction of the SNFCC.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos  
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[↑] The SNFCC construction site 
was marked by the presence of 
numerous construction cranes. An 
electronic system with dedicated 
software monitored and recorded 
their movements for safety.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos  

[↗] View of the construction site.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos 

In 2014, the SNFCC presented “Dance of the Cranes,”  
an innovative dance performance based on an idea by the 
project’s architect, Renzo Piano, and executed by Myron 
Michailidis, the art director of the Greek National Opera (GNO). 
The ten construction cranes that worked daily on the SNFCC site 
“danced” to a unique choreography by Renato Zanella, to the 
music of Gustav Holst’s The Planets. The music was performed 
live on the construction site by the GNO Orchestra, conducted  
by Myron Michailidis.
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[↑] Landscaping works during  
the construction of the SNFCC.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos   

[↗] View of the construction site.   
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos  

[-->] The hall of the Greek National 
Opera during construction.    
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos   

The SNFCC was dubbed the “triple project” since, in addition  
to the NLG and the GNO, it also included the creation of  
Stavros Niarchos Park.



172

“Renzo Piano’s ingenious design prioritizes the environment; 
it prioritizes the park over the buildings. Every visitor can 
see that the park and the buildings intertwine and, indeed, 
the park is given fundamental significance by means of rising 
gradually into a hill over the buildings, so that Kallithea 
[“good view”] may reclaim the good view it once enjoyed, 
as Piano himself has frequently explained. The buildings 
were squeezed into a corner of these 210,000 square meters, 
thus allowing for the creation of a park larger even than 
the National Gardens. The energy canopy that Renzo Piano 
conceived of is truly a global innovation, which transcended 
the boundaries of statics and took hundreds of trials, in 
construction material workshops both in Greece and Europe,  
to confirm its feasibility.”
Theodore Maravelias, architect and Chief Technical Grants Officer  
at SNF, who took part in the creation of the SNFCC. 
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[←] General view of the canopy.    
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[-->] Landscaping at Stavros 
Niarchos Park. Plantings included 
16 tree species (olive, schinus, 
“strawberry” tree, carob, Judas-
tree, laurel, cypress, etc), 
as well as numerous shrubs and 
aromatic plants.      
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos 
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The Ephorate of Antiquities of Piraeus and the Islands carried 
out salvage excavations at the site during the construction of the 
SNFCC (2012-2016). Among thousands of graves of the ancient 
necropolis that were brought to light, the most important is that 
of the “Desmotes [Prisoners] of Faliro.” This is a mass burial site 
of 79 shackled men, arranged in three rows, some with their arms 
tied behind their backs and some bound to one another, and 
all bearing a fatal blow to the head made by a blunt instrument. 
Their execution is connected to a period of political upheaval in 
the 7th century B.C. 
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[←] The excavation site of 
the “Desmotes” at the Stavros 
Niarchos Foundation Cultural 
Center (SNFCC). 
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and 
Sports, Ephorate of Antiquities 
of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

[-->] Mass burial of men from the 
“Desmotes of Faliron” group.
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and 
Sports, Ephorate of Antiquities 
of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G .Asvestas
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The importance of the discovery of the “Desmotes” led to 
the issuance of a ministerial decision for in situ preservation. 
The most advanced and accurate methods of recording and 
bioarcheology were employed in its documentation. 

“Not a lot could be done in that terrain, its uses were 
limited. They couldn’t build a settlement, they couldn’t 
construct walls and floors for houses. The only way in  
which it could be put to use was to provide accommodation  
for people who no longer had need for housing, or food, or 
work, but only to be conveyed on their final journey to the 
next life.”
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[←] Mass grave of men shackled  
at the wrists following a violent 
execution, 7th century B.C.  
A unique finding, known as 
“Desmotes [The Prisoners]  
of Faliron.”  
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and 
Sports, Ephorate of Antiquities 
of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

[-->] Removal of burial vessel from 
the SNFCC excavation site for 
transportation to the restoration 
laboratory. 
Hellenic Ministry of Culture and 
Sports, Ephorate of Antiquities 
of Piraeus and the Islands, 
photographer: G. Asvestas

Stella Chrysoulaki, archaeologist  
and director of the excavations at the Necropolis. 
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The construction of the SNFCC spanned from 2012 to 2017. 
Upon its completion, the SNF delivered the SNFCC to the Greek 
state and the people of Greece, announcing its commitment to 
continue providing support for the project over the first few years 
of its operation, as well as support to the two institutions, the 
NLG and the GNO, in their transitions to their new home. From 
the conception of the idea through 2026, SNF will have given  
a total of €641 million ($773 million) to the SNFCC. 

The SNFCC is the first public-private partnership of its kind in 
Greece. The SNFCC was the first large-scale European project 
granted LEED Platinum certification, and Stavros Niarchos Park  
is the largest public Mediterranean garden in the world. 

In addition, it has collaborated with more than 40 international 
organizations, including Lincoln Center for the Performing Arts 
in New York, through the Stavros Niarchos Foundation-Lincoln 
Center (SNF-LC) Agora Initiative, and has already earned its 
position on the global map as a contemporary landmark by
hosting major events, such as U.S. President Barack Obama’s 
speech in November 2016, and the EuroMED7 Summit of Heads  
of State and Government of European countries on  
the Mediterranean.
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[-->] View of the SNFCC  
from Stavros Niarchos Park.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos 
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“From the first moment of its conception, the Stavros Niarchos 
Foundation Cultural Center has shone like a bright star. 
This did not happen by accident, but because of hard work, 
excellent and continuous collaborations at all levels, a 
shared vision, and a common goal. All the above resulted in a 
beautiful creation that was built here, on the deserted space 
of the Faliron Delta. The Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural 
Center is delivered in its entirety to the Greek state,  
Greek society. As of today, it is yours!”
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Excerpt from the address  
given by SNF Co-President  
Andreas Dracopoulos, during  
the ceremony delivering the SNFCC 
to the Greek state.  

[←] Opening ceremony, 2017. 
SNF, Photographer:  
G. Dimitrakopoulos

[-->] Ceremony celebrating the 
handover of the SNFCC to the 
Greek state and the people  
of Greece, 23-2-2017.
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos

[-^] View of the building of  
the National Library of Greece 
and the Greek National Opera.  
SNFCC, Photographer: Y. Yerolymbos



Renzo Piano, SNFCC Architect

“Today is a great day. It is always a great day, the day when 
you deliver a building to the community, especially when the 
building is like this. There is a park, there is water, the
Canal, there is a piazza, there is an Agora, there is a 
Library, the place of education and understanding, discovery. 
There is an opera and a place for music and ballet. So, this 
is what I call a place for people, a place where people come 
together, they stay together, and they celebrate the ritual of 
tolerance. So welcome to this new place for Athens, for Greece 
and, in some way, for the world at large.”
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The SNFCC has played a pivotal role in Greek society, and its 
social, environmental, and economic impact is undeniable. 
It is the third most preferred cultural destination in Athens 
for international visitors, after the Acropolis Museum and 
the National Archaeological Museum, according to a survey 
conducted by Athens International Airport.

A high-quality, safe, and environmentally sustainable public space 
open to everyone, constantly evolving, broadening its scope, 
embracing the public and being embraced by it in return, the 
SNFCC has established itself as an international destination and 
drawn millions of visitors from all over the world.  

VΙI. 2001-Today
 
Site of the Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) 
Transformation 3

[←][-->] Leisure activities  
at Stavros Niarchos Park.  
SNFCC, Photographer: N. Karanikolas
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“From August 2016, when the Stavros Niarchos Foundation 
Cultural Center welcomed its first visitors, until the present 
day, it has been impressed in the consciousness of the public 
not merely as an architectural landmark, but as an open 
public space, exactly as the Stavros Niarchos Foundation 
envisioned it. Diversity in events and activities and the 
potential for everyone to find something that interests them 
are the objectives that drive it. Accordingly, its program 
covers a wide range of activities, both small- and large-
scale, unfolding literally 365 days a year. At the same time, 
the coexistence of the National Library of Greece and the 
Greek National Opera at the Stavros Niarchos Foundation 
Cultural Center creates opportunities for synergies that have 
a multiplier effect on the work of all three organizations.” 
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Elly Andriopoulou, president and managing director of the SNFCC.

[-->] Nighttime view of the building 
of the National Library of Greece 
and the Greek National Opera.    
SNFCC, Photographer: E. Vlachou
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“On this site, which has served so many functions over the 
centuries, we found fertile ground to transplant the mission 
of the National Library of Greece. With its relocation to 
this site, we were able to transfer its collections safely and 
better serve its scholarly visitors, while the lending library 
created has thrown the doors of the National Library open to 
the general public, of all ages.”
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The unforgettable director of the NLG, Filippos Tsimboglou, recounted:

[-->] The NLG reading room.  
NLG, photographer: N. Karanikolas
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“The Greek National Opera has a history spanning over 80 
years. For several years, it stood at the center of Athens,  
at the Olympia Theater, which was, however, not in a position 
to cover the great needs of operatic theater. Thus, the 
people of the Greek National Opera have always hoped for an 
appropriate home, a theater, that could meet the needs of 
contemporary opera. Imagine the satisfaction and the joy we 
experienced, when we were informed that the Stavros Niarchos 
Foundation Cultural Center, alongside the National Library of 
Greece, would also house the Greek National Opera.”
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Giorgos Koumendakis, artistic director of the GNO.

[-->] Stavros Niarchos Hall, GNO, 
Performance "Lady Macbeth of 
Mtsensk", 2019. 
GNO, photographer: A. Simopoulos



The Labyrinth was designed  
by landscape designers  
Deborah Nevins and Elli Pagkalou.
SNFCC, photographer: Y. Yerolymbos 

The story of the site of the  
Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center 
continues…
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Notes Sources

The museologist M. Mouliou contributed to the editing of texts. 

The classification and scanning of archival material was carried out by  
E. Kafetzi, M. Kardabiki, and V. Nikolakopoulou, while M. Sotiropoulou,  
E. Eleftheraki and F. Koukouvinos undertook the conservation of the 
exhibits included in this book. 

M. Giannopoulou and M. Kardabiki assisted in the research of archival 
material and bibliographical sources. 

The interviews from which first-person accounts included in this book 
derive were filmed by AbFab Productions in the context of creating a 
15-minute video, which is screened as part of the permanent exhibition  
at NLG. 

The photos of I. Gratsia, St. Karavatos, J. Vanderpool are from  
the MONUMENTA Photo Archive.

Research and data collection on the history of the Faliron Delta and the site 
that currently hosts the SNFCC were based: 

-->  On archival material from the ιnterwar construction company   
 “Ergoliptiki S.A.”, held by the National Library of Greece.

-->  On a collection of materials on the Hippodrome and its surrounding  
 area, by collector Giannis Lambrou.  

-->  On the archives of jockeys T. Ioakeimidis, L. Siatounis  
 and I. Siatounis.

-->  On interviews with riders at the Kallithea Hippodrome and residents  
 of Tzitzifies, conducted by I. Gratsia in 2022. 

-->  On material from the archives of  
 Stavros Niarchos Foundation Cultural Center (SNFCC) and  
 Stavros Niarchos Foundation (SNF). 
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